



Black Elk Cooperative House Constitution

Last Updated: April 23, 2022

BLACK ELK COOPERATIVE HOUSE 902 Baldwin Ave, Ann Arbor, MI 48104

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	4
ARTICLE I: HOUSE OPERATIONS Section 1: Name Section 2: Governance Section 3: Constitution and Standing Rules	4 4 4
ARTICLE II: MEMBERSHIP Section 1: Membership Requirements Section 2: Duties of House Members Section 3: Referral and Expulsion	5 5 5 5
ARTICLE III: HOUSE MEETINGS Section 1: House Meetings Section 2: Quorum Section: 3: Schedule Section 4: Agenda Section 6: House Constitution Amendments Section 7: Special House Meetings Section 8: Tabling	5 5 6 6 6 6
ARTICLE IV: HOUSE OFFICERS Section 1: Election of House Officers Section 2: The Officers and Their Duties	7 7 8
ARTICLE V: WORK Section 1: Labor Expectations Section 2: Work Holiday Section 3: Missed Labor Policies	12 12 14 14
ARTICLE VI: CONFLICT RESOLUTION Section 1: Purpose Section 2: Strike System Section 3: Strike Assignment	15 15 15 16
ARTICLE VII: ROOM ASSIGNMENTS Section 2: Seniority Section 3: Room Choices Section 4: Seniority List Section 5: Vacancies	17 17 18 20 20

Section 6: Roommates	20
Section 7: Room Choices	20
ARTICLE VIII: VEGETARIANISM	20
ARTICLE IX: SMOKING	20
ARTICLE X: PARTY	20
ARTICLE XI: PET POLICY	20
Section 1: Health	21
Section 2: References	21
Section 3: Animal's Relationship with House	21
Section 4: Policy Agreeance	21
Section 5: Allergies and Pets	21
ARTICLE XII: MOVING OUT	22
ARTICLE XIII: INTERIM	22
Section 1: Work Schedule	22
Section 2: Food	22
Section 3: Inspections	22
ARTICLE XIV: PARKING	22
Section 1: Cars	22
Section 2: Bikes	23
ARTICLE XV: MURALS	23
ARTICLE XVI: BALLPIT	23
Section 1: Rules	23
Section 2: Cleaning	24
Section 3: Removal	24
ARTICLE XVII: ART HOUSE	25
ARTICI E XVIII: CINCO DE NAKED	25

Note: All mentions of the Inter-Cooperative Council Standing Rules refer to those updated as of April 23, 2022.

PREAMBLE

We, the members of the Black Elk Cooperative House, associate ourselves in accordance with the spirit of the Rochdale Principles of Cooperation for the purpose of providing room and board to students of the University of Michigan, Eastern Michigan University, Washtenaw Community College, and other local students and non-students. The Cooperative Principles we adopt are as follows:

- Open membership: There will be no restriction on membership for any reason other than available room and ability and willingness to discharge duties as House members.
- 2. **Democracy:** Each member has one and only one vote. Each member shares the House duties in as equitable of a manner as possible and each shares equally in the benefits derived.
- 3. **Education:** The House will be a working example of cooperative living and will educate its members and others on campus in the principles of cooperatives.
- 4. Cooperation: By supporting the Inter-Cooperative Council the House will promote the cooperative movement. By its membership in other cooperative organizations it will support the movement in general as much as possible without impairing the efficient functioning of the House. The House will actively cooperate with other cooperatives at local, national, and international levels in order to further serve their members and their communities.
- 5. **Diversity:** The House shall prioritize and promote social justice and may reference the Diversity Committee Policy Manual for guidance.

ARTICLE I: HOUSE OPERATIONS

Section 1: Name

The name of the entity which operates under this constitution is the Black Elk Cooperative House.

Section 2: Governance

This House is a member of and abides by the Standing Rules of the Inter-Cooperative Council at the University of Michigan.

Section 3: Constitution and Standing Rules

The House shall always keep an updated copy of both the constitution and ICC Standing Rules posted in an easily accessible place within a common area.

ARTICLE II: MEMBERSHIP

Section 1: Membership Requirements

- Acceptance by the Inter-Cooperative Council Black Elk Cooperative House Constitution
- b. Completion of a house tour either in person or on Zoom before signing a contract
- c. Payment of membership deposit and fee, and
- d. Boarding at the House.

Section 2: Duties of House Members

- a. House members are responsible for work assigned by the chore eographer of the House. Under no circumstances may a member hire another person to do their work.
- b. House members are responsible for payment of bills as determined by the House and the Inter-Cooperative Council.
- c. House members must make a reasonable effort to attend regular House meetings (and if you can't attend, contact the House president).
- d. House members must abide by the House Constitution and by rules passed at House meetings.
- e. House members may be required to serve on ICC committees.

Section 3: Referral and Expulsion

a. Uncooperative, prejudicial, and/or harmful behavior will not be tolerated by the House and are grounds for referral and expulsion. Please refer to the ICC Standing Rules regarding the rights of members and hearing processes in the instances of referrals and expulsions (see Chapter 16 of the Standing Rules).

ARTICLE III: HOUSE MEETINGS

Section 1: House Meetings

A privilege, right, and responsibility of members is to attend and participate in House meetings. Voting in absentee for votes planned on the agenda is allowed if a member is unable to attend and lets the president know in advance. The House shall try to make decisions by consensus at all House meetings, but if the president sees fit, Robert's Rules of Order shall be used as a guideline.

Section 2: Quorum

A quorum shall consist of a simple majority of all members at a regularly scheduled or special House meeting. Absentee votes will count towards quorum. The president will announce if people voted absentee before each vote. If quorum is not achieved, no changes to the House's policies or constitution may be made, nor can any votes be taken which affect the House budget or any of its present, past, or future members.

Section: 3: Schedule

A regular House meeting is one called by the president and should be held at least every other week.

Section 4: Agenda

All House meetings must have their agenda posted 24 hours prior to the meeting.

Section 5: House Policy Changes

House rules will be passed by a simple majority of members voting at a House meeting, with the president only voting in the event of a tie. The policies only remain in effect for the contract period under which they are voted on.

- a. **Gender Ratio** The House will determine a gender ratio (man, woman, non-binary or other) each fall for the next academic year.
- b. "Single Semester" Contracts During the academic year, no more than 10% of contracts may be a single semester contract per semester (i.e. 10% in fall, 10% in winter terms). Exceptions can be made for individuals who need to leave after the fall portion of their fall/winter contract.

Section 6: House Constitution Amendments

An amendment to the House Constitution must be posted 24 hours prior to the meeting and will be passed either by the following:

- A 2/3 majority of the total membership OR;
- By 90% of people present at the meeting, where the minimum attending is $\frac{1}{2}$ the house membership, plus 1.

In the latter situation, 90% of quorum must vote in the affirmative in order for an amendment to pass (abstentions will be counted as no votes).

If a member cannot attend, they may submit an absentee vote to the president. In such a case, the member shall be counted as present for the duration of the vote.

Section 7: Special House Meetings

Special House meetings may be called by any House member for any House-related purpose, and are voluntary, but strongly encouraged. The purpose of the special meeting must be indicated on the agenda which must be posted for 24 hours prior to the proposed meeting.

Section 8: Tabling

Any proposal/amendment may be tabled until the next meeting or called to a vote immediately by a simple majority of the members voting at a House meeting.

ARTICLE IV: HOUSE OFFICERS

Section 1: Election of House Officers

- a. House officers shall be elected within one week after the beginning of the semester. A simple majority of votes cast is necessary to elect House officers. If there are three or more candidates and no one receives a majority, there shall be a runoff election dropping the lowest candidate each time until one candidate receives a majority vote.
- b. Officers may be elected at the end of the current semester to hold office the following full semester (excluding summer semester, when the officer elected at the end of winter semester holds office for both the spring and summer semesters). The House president, board representative, maintenance manager, treasurer and food steward must be elected in April to serve year-long terms until the following April. If these officers are not living in the House during the summer, a temporary replacement shall be elected for the summer term.
- c. Temporary officers may be elected by a simple majority of those voting at a House meeting to take charge in the absence of the permanent officers.
- d. The remaining House officer positions shall serve for a term of one semester (or for consecutive spring and summer semesters). Officers may be re-elected to office at the first meeting of the winter semester. At the end of the fall semester, officers will delegate or continue their responsibilities until the winter meeting elections. Officers must attend ICC Officer Trainings.
- e. Near the end of fall and winter semesters, the House president shall organize/run an evaluation process for each of the outgoing officers that will give constructive feedback as to how they have performed. This should take place before the end of the semester.
- f. If a member wishes to expel any officer before their term is over, they must post the proposal 72 hours prior to a scheduled meeting and make all reasonable attempts to ensure the officer's attendance at said meeting. The proposal requires a 2/3 majority vote of the total rooming membership. If passed, an election for a new officer should take place at the same meeting. If this is not possible, an interim officer must be appointed until a new officer is officially elected.
- g. The following lists Black Elk's officer positions:
 - 1. President
 - 2. Board Representative
 - 3. Maintenance Manager
 - 4. Chore eographer
 - 5. Secretary
 - 6. Treasurer
 - 7. Food Steward

- 8. Kitchen Czar
- 9. Interim Manager
- 10. Sustainability Steward
- 11. Social Chair

Section 2: The Officers and Their Duties

- a. President. The chief role of the president is to be the communication link between the House and the ICC, ensuring that the needs and opinions of the House members are represented at a central level, and informing House members of ICC-wide issues and events. The president shall preside over all House meetings; post all notices relevant to the members of the House, including notices to the House that are received by mail; post notices of House meetings, stating the time and date of the meeting and the agenda, at least 24 hours prior to the scheduled meeting; act as official representative for Black Elk in its relations with all other organizations, other ICC Houses and the ICC central office. The president shall be a roomer of Black Elk.
- b. Board Representative. The board representative is a trustee to the ICC. They attend and participate in all ICC Board Meetings (see ICC Standing Rule 1.1). They also announce and post ICC ideas, policies, problems, and BoD minutes to the House. They communicate House needs to the Board and they communicate organizational needs to the House.
- c. Maintenance Manager. The maintenance manager shall be responsible for the maintenance of the House, the House appliances and House facilities. They shall make investigations into the purchase of necessary materials, utensils, and appliances (with the approval of the House when necessary). They shall perform all maintenance work or arrange to have the work contracted out. The maintenance manager shall organize the maintenance room, follow the preventive maintenance program as described by the ICC maintenance committee, and keep accurate records on all House work.
- d. **Chore~eographer**. The chore~eographer shall be responsible for assigning in an equitable manner the work necessary for the efficient and sanitary functioning of the House, and for seeing that the work is carried out properly. The chore~eographer shall see that all House members carry out their appointed responsibilities. They are responsible for keeping track of missed work. If a member misses work, they will be assigned make-up hours. If the member misses work and make-up hours, the member may be fined. Fines shall be decided by the chore~eographer, president, and treasurer. Fines may not exceed \$15/hour. If the member continually misses work and make-up hours, they may be placed on referral.
- e. **Secretary**. The secretary shall take minutes of House meetings. They shall post minutes of each meeting no later than 24 hours after the meeting by emailing them to the House and uploading them to the appropriate Google Drives. The secretary shall reroute and forward the mail every day, organize the mailroom, take out mail-room

- recycling, and create mailboxes for new members. The secretary may also create propaganda flyers for House events and announcements (see the Google Drive folder for examples).
- f. **Treasurer**. The treasurer shall formulate the House budget and present it to the House for approval, keep account of all transactions including online rent payments, and make monthly balances of the books. For transparency's sake, all treasurer documents should be updated frequently, made available online in the appropriate Google Drives, and only be editable by the treasurer and House president. The treasurer is responsible for making financial reports at House meetings. At the beginning of the month, the treasurer is responsible for reminding members of their House and ICC charges. The treasurer shall keep other House officers well-informed concerning the financial status of the House and its budget. The treasurer will write check reimbursements to members who have bought House-approved items on personal cards and will oversee House credit card purchases.
- g. Food Steward. The food steward will:
 - Be in charge of supplying food and other items for the kitchen, as well as any other communal products that the House needs that do not qualify as amenities or maintenance purchases, as according to the House's needs and residents' requests.
 - Survey the House either digitally or through an in-person meeting to gather information on purchasing preferences. This can include questions on types of food purchased or questions such as ethical buying practices, sustainability, vendor preferences, etc.
 - 3. Collaborate with food stewards from other houses to increase our bulk-buying power and reduce costs across houses.
 - 4. Work with the kitchen czar to ensure our purchases are stored correctly and in a way that maximizes their shelf life.
 - 5. Be nice and kind and respectful to Judy Raymond, SBA's Food Ordering Goddess.
- h. **Kitchen Czar**. It is the kitchen czar's job to manage the Five Focus Areas of the kitchen (according to ICC guidelines). The kitchen czar schedules the maintenance of these areas and either completes the tasks themselves or works with the chore eographer to delegate the tasks to other members.
 - 1. The Sanitizer
 - i. Clean the sanitizer regularly.
 - ii. Use a test strip to make sure chlorine concentration is between 50-100 ppm.
 - iii. De-lime the sanitizer periodically (at least once every two months).
 - iv. Make sure that sanitizer fluids are stocked (collaborate with food steward).

2. The Fridge

- i. Clean the fridge coils and empty the water basin underneath the fridge at least monthly.
- ii. Maintain correct organization of food.
 - Make sure that food is properly sealed/labeled with a date and name of food item. Throw away open, refrigerated food items after 5-7 days.
 - b. Clean the non-guff fridge and throw out all old and/or unlabelled food at least once per week.
 - c. Clean the outside of the fridges (including their handles) weekly.
- iii. Maintain correct temperatures of the fridge by regularly checking the thermometers.

3. The Stove and Ovens

- i. The following tasks should be performed each work holiday:
 - a. Degrease the stove's fume hood and fan cover.
 - b. Soak and degrease the stovetop and griddle.
 - c. Deep clean the ovens and their grease trap with vinegar and baking soda.

4. Educating Members

- i. Educate members on how to:
 - a. Properly use the stove, oven, sanitizer, appliances, and utensils
 - b. Do dinner clean (preferably within the first two weeks of a term).
 - c. Follow OSEH Sanitation guidelines for keeping "food safe."
 - d. Clean dishes and silverware.
 - e. Label food items and store them in the fridge or freezer.
 - f. Store dry good items (nothing on the floor).

5. Cleaning Supplies and Other Responsibilities

- i. Check cleaning supply inventory, inform the food steward of what is needed.
- ii. Items that should be stocked include: bleach, windex, degreaser, scouring pads, steel wool, paper towels, rags, hand soap, delimer, test strips, and a metal stem thermometer that should read a range including 0-220 degrees Fahrenheit.
- iii. Organize shelves, items in cabinets, and dry food storage room.
- iv. Clean the pantry regularly.
 - a. Check for pests or rodents. If necessary, lay down traps in the
 - b. Sweep debris off of floor and shelves.
- Interim Manager. Assumes all officer functions and oversees operations during

interim until the incoming House President is trained. The IM should be someone who lives at the House and has a current and future contract. They must be readily accessible throughout the entire interim period and be in regular communication with an Interim Assistance Committee (IAC) member for any needed support, resources, and inspections (also refer to Articles XI and XII).

- Training: Interim Manager training typically happens around two weeks before the last day of classes of any semester. Training is conducted by the IAC and Director of Membership at the ICC Education Center.
- 2. <u>Communications</u>: The IM keeps Housemates aware of all interim dates, deadlines, policies, and procedures related to move-in and move-out.
- 3. Interim Work Schedule and Inspection Prep: compose an interim work schedule enlisting the aid of recurring and incoming members as needed.
- 4. <u>Supervising Move-in and Move-out</u>: monitor the online membership database and keep records of arrival/departure schedules.
- 5. <u>Inspections</u>: All member rooms are inspected by the IM immediately after move out and checked again prior to any move-in. All unoccupied member rooms should be clean and free of dirt, debris, and personal possessions. The IM should accompany IAC members during interim inspections.
- 6. <u>Keys</u>: Acquire the key box code from the outgoing House President and collect outgoing members' keys.
- j. Sustainability Steward. The Sustainability Steward will:
 - 1. Attend meetings of the Sustainability Team.
 - 2. Report energy usage to the House and to the ICC Sustainability Committee.
 - 3. Educate House members on issues of sustainability and encourage and facilitate sustainable living, energy use, and consumption.
 - 4. Identify and address areas of wasted energy or resources and plan sustainability projects where necessary.
- k. Social Chair. The Social Chair will:
 - Plan events for House members that align with the current House's desires for social activities.
 - As a House, events that are inclusive (substance free/ educational) are highly encouraged in line with our commitment to open membership.
 - 2. Coordinate with other ICC Houses for combined events (i.e. campus progressives).
 - 3. Create a party plan;
 - i. Assign party setup, teardown, and sober monitors in accordance with ICC <u>party checklist</u>.
 - ii. Assign responsibility for roles before, during, and after each party.
 - iii. Check to make sure roles were fulfilled before, during, and after the party.

- 4. Hold a Social Chair training for the House once per term in conjunction with the Education Committee and the Social Chair Team.
 - 1 hour of member assistance is credited for serving on the Social Chair Team, in addition to any hours assigned by the house.

ARTICLE V: WORK

If you are going to miss work, cover your ass (find a replacement), damn it!

Section 1: Labor Expectations

- a. <u>Dinner Cook</u>: Dinner cooks are in charge of making a nutritious meal for the House on the day they are assigned. They have one cooking partner, and can request ingredients for meals by coordinating with the food stewards in advance of their required cooking day. Dinner cooks are required to make a vegetarian meal with a vegan option. The entire meal can be vegan if the cooks would like, as long as everyone in the House will be able to consume the meal together with all dietary restrictions accounted for (dietary restrictions/allergies will be posted in the kitchen) Dinner should be served at the time voted upon at the first House meeting of the contract term.
 - i. Make sure to check the 'save plate' list before calling the entire House down for dinner. Save plates are critical for those individuals who have long days and cannot make it to House dinners on time. EVERYONE should be able to take part in House dinners even if they cannot physically attend, they should still be able to enjoy their meal when they come home later in the evening. If a person has taken the time to request a save plate, then we need to make time to package one up in a Tupperware container with that person's name on it and save it for them in the fridge. Dinner cooks are responsible for making enough food for save plates and for members present for House dinners. Save plates are up for grabs after 24 hours. The save plate chart is renewed after each week. Every member will have one save plate. Members cannot have a new save plate until the old one is clean. Save plates should be labeled with the date they were made and will be thrown out at the end of the week.
- b. <u>Dinner Clean</u>: Dinner cleaners are in charge of cleaning all of the pots and pans that were used during dinner, as well as any cooking utensils, knives, etc. that are found throughout the kitchen (i.e. everything in the kitchen). Once washed these items should go through the sanitizer and then be put away in their designated cupboards. Dinner cleaners are also responsible for sweeping and mopping the kitchen floors (both the upper kitchen and lower kitchen). They are expected to clean the kitchen countertops and the silver island in the middle of the lower kitchen. Dinner cleaners

- are responsible for putting away leftovers, and this must be done within 1 hour of dinner being served. If dinner cleaners cannot be present at that time to put away leftovers, it is their responsibility to find someone to cover for that portion of the chore.
- c. <u>Bathroom Clean</u>: Bathroom cleaners will find all cleaning supplies underneath the sinks of each bathroom. If they cannot find these cleaning supplies, they should use the cleaning supplies from another bathroom and then inform the chore eographer so that they can make sure all of the bathrooms are stocked with what is needed to clean them! Cleaners are required to windex mirrors, clean toilet bowls, scrub showers (or at least sections that need scrubbing the most), and clean the sinks, clean the floors, and take out the trash. Please make sure when you take out the trash that you replace the garbage bin with a new trash bag/plastic bag. Everyone enjoys a clean bathroom and will love bathroom cleaners forever for making our porcelain thrones pristine.
- d. <u>Living Room Clean</u>: The living room is a great congregating space for our House to come together and bond, so it is essential that we keep it clean! Oftentimes cups and plates will be left on the dining room table; these need to be taken into the kitchen to be washed and put on the sanitizer racks. Living room cleaners are expected to clean the living room table, tidy up the couches, put any art supplies back into the bin that is underneath the activities table in the corner, vacuum/sweep the living room, dust the windowsills with a wet rag and organize/clean/dust anything else that needs a little TLC!
- e. <u>Study Clean</u>: The study is another lovely hangout for all of our BE (Black Elk) friends. Please make sure any cups/plates that are left in the study are taken back into the kitchen to be cleaned and put on the sanitizer racks. Study cleaners are expected to tidy up the couches, fold any blankets, clean the table in the center of the room, vacuum/sweep the study, organize the computer station and the bookshelves, dust the windowsills with a wet rag, and anything else they see fit!
- f. Basement/Laundry Room Clean: Basement/laundry room cleaners are expected to keep the laundry room organized. They should ensure that any guff towels or rags are put in their designated areas, check if the garbage needs to be taken out and if so, replace the bin with a new bag, empty the lint trap and sweep the laundry room. The basement common area should be cleared of any leftover cups and plates. These should be washed and put onto the sanitizer racks. The table in the basement should be cleaned, couches should be tidied, blankets folded, along with any other things that the basement cleaner deems essential to the cleaning of the room.
- g. <u>Vacuuming Hallways/Stairs/Basement</u>: Floor cleaners are expected to clear any items that may disrupt the vacuum's ability to clean the floors effectively. If a floor cleaner decides that sweeping or mopping would be more effective on wood floors, then they should by all means sweep and mop instead of using the vacuum. First floor hallway cleaners should clean the door matts lining the floors, as well as any mats placed in

the entryway. If there are any shoes or miscellaneous items in hallways or on stairs these items should be gathered and placed either at the bottom or top of the stairs; House members should be informed that there are personal items that need to be picked up.

- h. <u>Guff Laundering</u>: There are two buckets beneath the lower kitchen sink labeled 'clean' and 'dirty' rags. Launderers will gather the dirty rags, bath mats in each bathroom, and any guff towels and wash them. Once these items have been cleaned, launderers will return them to their designated areas.
- i. <u>Guff Cook</u>: Guff cook is so, so much fun. These cooking hours are designated for making large quantities of House snacks like granola, hummus, guacamole, etc. or House staples like marinated tofu, rice, etc. The dishes guff cooks make should be accessible to all members and dietary restrictions. Guff cooks can coordinate with the food stewards if they need special ingredients as long as they give food stewards proper notice. After making whatever food they decide, the dish should be stored properly, labeled and dated. Guff cooks are responsible for cleaning up any mess that has been made.
- j. Perimeter Clean: This involves the sweeping of porches and balconies, picking up any trash or miscellaneous items around the perimeter of our House, as well as cleaning and plates or cups that have been left behind on outdoor tables or chairs. In the winter months this will involve shoveling the snow off of our front door steps, shoveling the driveway, and making a clear and safe walking path on the front porch leading up to the front door.
- k. <u>Bottle Return</u>: Bottle Returners are responsible for taking all of the bottles accumulating on the basement stairs landing to the bottle return of their choice. After receiving the money from the cashier, they should ensure to return the bottle return garbage pails to their designated areas and to put the bottle return money into the treasurer's mail box.

Section 2: Work Holiday

a. See ICC Standing Rule 9.12.

Section 3: Missed Labor Policies

If a member misses a work shift, they shall be given the same amount of makeup hours that they missed. The member must notify the chore eographer 24 hours in advance with a valid excuse if they are unable to complete an assigned work shift. Some examples of valid excuses are exam conflicts, work conflicts, mandatory meetings, and emergency situations. Emergency situations are evaluated at the discretion of the chore eographer.

The chore eographer can excuse the member from an assigned shift; however, they must find someone to cover the excused shift. All fines may be disputed at a house meeting, where the fine may be dropped with two-thirds approval.

Consequences of missed work are:

Offense 1:

- Warning is issued to member.
- Member makes up the amount of hours missed.

Offense 2:

- Member makes up the amount of hours missed.
- Member pays a fine of \$15/hour for each hour missed.

Offense 3:

- Member makes up the amount of hours missed.
- Member pays a fine of \$15/hour for each hour missed.
- Member must have a meeting with the chore eographer and House president to form a Restorative Action Plan (see Article VI, Section 2.3).

Offense 4:

Member is put on Referral.

ARTICLE VI: CONFLICT RESOLUTION

Section 1: Purpose

The purpose of this conflict resolution process shall be to provide a restorative pathway for resolving uncooperative behavior exhibited by a member of the house. It is based on, but aims to be more specific than, the procedures outlined in ICC Standing Rule 16.1.

Uncooperative behavior includes, but is not limited to, the following types of actions.

- Not fulfilling responsibilities to the house
 - a. Failure to do assigned work.
 - b. Failure to keep up with house communications.
- Actions that threaten the health, wellness, and/or safety of
 - a. The house as a whole.
 - b. Any of the house's members or their guests while in the house.
 - c. The collective or personal property of any of the house's members or their guests.

For other examples of uncooperative behavior, see ICC Standing Rule 16.5.2.C.

Section 2: Strike System

The conflict resolution procedure shall consist of a strike system with five levels.

1. Verbal Warning 1

a. One strike removed if no repeat violations occur after 2 weeks.

2. Verbal Warning 2

a. One strike removed if no repeat violations occur after 2 weeks (return to Verbal Warning 1).

3. Restorative Action Plan

- a. The House president, relevant officer (e.g. chore~eographer if member missed chores, treasurer if member missed payments), and preferably a third officer will conduct the process.
 - If these officers think it would be helpful, they can include members of DART in this process.
- b. These officers will meet with the complainant first (if relevant) and have a discussion to figure out the source of issue along with what should be done to solve it.
- c. Next, these officers will meet with the accused member, share the feedback and point of view from the complainant if there is one, and come up with a Restorative Action Plan to fix the member's uncooperative behavior.
 - i. The Plan should include any accommodations or training the member might require to this end.
 - The Plan should also include terms that should be satisfied by the member, as well as a timeline and procedure for strikes being removed.
- d. The Restorative Action Plan should be recorded on a written document.
 - i. One copy should be provided to the accused member.
 - ii. Another copy should be signed by the accused member and facilitating officers, and then kept in storage by one of the facilitating officers.

4. Referral

- a. A restorative plan of action should be built into the referral terms.
- b. Referral terms should contain a provision for expulsion if they are not upheld by the member placed on referral.
- c. For more information on referral, see ICC Standing Rule 16.5.

5. Expulsion

a. For more information on expulsion, see ICC Standing Rule 16.6.

Section 3: Strike Assignment

The number of strikes assigned should generally be one per offense. However, in cases involving more severe offenses, including but not limited to the ones listed below, a different number of strikes may be assigned as described below.

- Failure to do work: One strike. See Article V, Section 3: Missed Labor Polices.
- Abuse of community property: Two strikes.
 - Cases involving stealing or damaging property deliberately or due to unreasonable negligence.
- Infringement on the privacy and/or property of others: Three strikes.
 - Cases involving theft or trespassing in a member's room without consent.

- For actions that constitute a significant threat to the health, safety or welfare of co-op members, whether or not such actions are also subject to penalties under civil or criminal law:
 - a. Less severe offenses than b or c: Three strikes.
 - Physical threats: Required number of strikes to reach referral, unless the member is already on referral, in which case an expulsion hearing should be conducted.
 - c. <u>Physical assault, sexual harassment/assault</u>: Immediate expulsion.

These categories cannot possibly cover every possible circumstance, and as such the decision on whether to consider a member's behavior uncooperative and how many strikes to give them will ultimately be made by a) the House president and b) another relevant officer if applicable. In the event that such a decision by the president and/or other relevant officer is at odds with the wishes of other house members, their decisions can be overridden through a vote by two-thirds of the members present at a house meeting. The person accused of uncooperative behavior and the person(s) who made the decision being voted on will not be able to partake in this vote.

ARTICLE VII: ROOM ASSIGNMENTS

Section 1: Procedure

House members exercise room choice on the basis of seniority with the person having the highest seniority having first choice, the person with the second highest seniority having second choice, etc. Seniority is determined by the Black Elk point system.

Section 2: Seniority

Black Elk's point system will work as follows:

a. Black Elk Seniority Point System

	Fall	Winter	Spring/Summer	Spring or Summer
Roomers	1	1	1	0.5
Boarders	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.25

- Points have an active or inactive status*.
 - 1. Not living in Black Elk for a spring and/or a summer term will never cause a person's points to go inactive.
 - 2. Any member may leave Black Elk for one fall OR one winter semester and

have their points remain active.

- 3. Any House member may leave to participate in an academic study abroad program for up to one fall and one winter semester and have their points remain active.
- 4. Otherwise, when a member leaves for consecutive fall and winter semesters or more, their points become inactive.
- 5. Points may never be re-activated after a period of three years away from Black Elk.
 - Active Points: A person with active points is any person who has roomed and/or boarded at Black Elk for the semester immediately prior (see exceptions above).
 - ii. <u>Inactive Points</u>: A person with inactive points is any person who did not live in Black Elk during the previous two consecutive semesters (see Section 2 B.1.6), and who has points from previous Black Elk semesters (from a year or more ago), or from semesters at other ICC or NASCO housing co-ops. Approval of points for other coops outside of NASCO should be voted on a case-by-case basis at House discretion. They form a completely separate room-pick seniority list, which is not used until after the active member seniority list is exhausted. (i.e. an Elker with less than six active points will bid before a new Elker with six inactive points).
- c. After six weeks of rooming/boarding at Black Elk, ICC/NASCO points of other Houses will become active Elk points. New members of the House will be limited to six points of non-Elk origin (six points being the equivalent of two full years including summers in an ICC/NASCO housing co-op).
- d. Ties between members with the same number of points will be broken based on contract signing. Seniority will be determined by the date on which a Black Elk contract was signed. Thus, whoever signed a Black Elk contract earliest between the involved parties will pick first. If someone first signed a contract 2 years ago, and hasn't left/become inactive since, then the date they first signed a Black Elk contract would be the date used (breaks wherein points become inactive would count as starting over and signing a new Black Elk contract).

Section 3: Room Choices

Procedures for determining fall room choices:

a. A list of seniority rankings shall be made in April for all members who have signed contracts for the fall semester. Each member shall be granted the seniority due to them at the time the list is made. A person who intends to remain in the House during the summer cannot count that summer towards their seniority for the following fall, nor can they replace the designated fall occupant of that room on the basis of their other spring/summer occupancy.

- b. In April, a room picks meeting will be held for all who have signed a contract for the upcoming fall semester. It is the responsibility of the winter in-House president to do the following:
 - Contact new and/or out-of-town members at least ten days before the date of the room picks meeting.
 - ii. Gather room preference information from those members.
 - iii. Inform all members of their right to designate a proxy if they cannot attend the meeting.
 - iv. Serve as proxy for members who cannot attend, based on their stated preferences.
- c. Room choices shall be made at the April room picks meeting according to the seniority list described above, and the choices shall be recorded at the time they are made. This list shall be kept by the spring/summer House president during the spring/summer. A copy shall be turned in to the ICC office, and a copy should be posted in a common area.
- d. At no time may any member be displaced from the room they chose at the room picks meeting except for gender ratio reasons. However, once a member's contract period has begun (including the entire duration of the fall/winter and spring/summer contract periods), the member may not be displaced from their room unless required to do so by ICC policies.
- e. Members who would like to be roommates shall temporarily (for the duration of the room picks meeting) assume the seniority rank of the roommate with the most seniority points of the pair/group.
- f. It will be the responsibility of the spring/summer House president to:
 - Frequently check the online database throughout the spring/summer term to determine the status of newly signed contracts.
 - ii. Contact new signers, and, in the event that multiple room choices are available, send a Room Preference Form (Appendix A) along with a stamped, addressed envelope, to their current/summer address on file at the ICC office. Alternatively, if email contact is established with the new signer, this form may be sent via email.
 - iii. If possible, rooms should be assigned to new signers based on their stated preferences according to the preference form. This should be done before the last day of the summer term (i.e. the day before the first day of interim).
- g. In the case of contract cancellations during the summer, the choice for the vacated room shall be made according to the seniority ranking as of the first day of fall term.
- h. In the event that the House has new members for the winter term, communication and

room preferences should be established similar to the procedure described for the fall term.

Section 4: Seniority List

A seniority list for the winter term shall be made in December and a separate seniority list for the summer term shall be made in April for those who will be in the House during the summer.

Section 5: Vacancies

In case of room vacancies during the year, room choices are made according to the seniority of those living in the House at the time the vacancy occurs.

Section 6: Roommates

Roommate preferences should be worked out between the members concerned. It will be left to the House members to resolve any conflicts in a fair and cooperative manner.

Section 7: Room Choices

The president shall be responsible for maintaining an accurate seniority list and for seeing that room choices are made in accordance with the rules established above.

ARTICLE VIII: VEGETARIANISM

The House will neither buy fish, fowl, nor red meat, and no member shall store, prepare, or consume meat on Black Elk's premises. The House will buy no animal products with the exception of honey, eggs, and dairy products. One exception shall be permitted; namely, the sustenance for House pets.

ARTICLE IX: SMOKING

Neither members nor guests will be allowed to smoke tobacco in Black Elk, no matter how sick it may look.

ARTICLE X: PARTY

All parties and party advertisements must be approved by the majority of the House, and a completed Party Policy Form must be submitted to the ICC Office (see ICC Standing Rule 12.6).

ARTICLE XI: PET POLICY

Black Elk's pet policy is in line with ICC Pet Policy (see ICC Standing Rule 12.4). If a member wishes to move an animal into the House, they must additionally agree to the following standards.

Section 1: Health

All animals must be free of fleas upon arrival. Their owner is responsible for flea
 extermination and any costs that might happen if fleas are acquired while in the
 House.

Section 2: References

- a. If the animal owner/potential owner has a roommate they must first obtain verbal permission from the roommate.
- If the animal has lived in other ICC Houses, the owner must obtain a pet reference.
 This reference should be a written response from a current or former House official to the House.
 - i. Exceptions may be made if House official is not available by obtaining permission from the House in general. This includes coming to a House meeting to discuss any concerns with the animal moving in and any other basic information House members desire. Permission will be granted through a 85% House vote.

Section 3: Animal's Relationship with House

- a. All animals that can be must be litter box-trained.
 - The location of the litter box is to be voted on by the House in a case-by-case fashion.
 - ii. Litter boxes may never be kept in kitchens, the dining room, or carpeted common area spaces.
 - iii. Litter boxes must be cleaned/emptied every 1-5 days.
- Locations of enclosed habitats (e.g. cages, hutches, or terrariums) will be voted upon on a case-by-case basis.
- c. Case-by-case treatment will be used for allowing pets into common spaces.
 - i. Animals are never allowed in inspectable kitchens and food storage areas.

Section 4: Policy Agreeance

- a. The House president or other declared House officers will be responsible for enforcing this policy.
- b. Owners must sign this policy stating that they agree to adhere to it before their pet is allowed into the House.

Section 5: Allergies and Pets

a. Be aware that this is a pet-friendly House, so if you have an allergy consider that before signing.

ARTICLE XII: MOVING OUT

(See ICC Standing Rule 14.5) After the day a member is scheduled to move out, if a room that used to be occupied by the member is not clean and/or does not have a bed, dresser, desk, and a chair (two beds, dressers, two desks, and two chairs for a double room) before ICC inspection or before others move in (whichever comes first), the House reserves the right to fine old occupant(s) of the room for the time spent cleaning or bringing necessary furniture back to the room by the new occupant(s) or others, and the ICC fine due to inspection will be charged back to the old occupants. If furniture, a wall, or the floor is damaged, the House also reserves the right to administer a fine.

- a. Members MUST move out on the last day of their contract. Any holdovers are subject to being fined.
- b. Members must return their room keys/side door keys to the interim manager.

ARTICLE XIII: INTERIM

Section 1: Work Schedule

A temporary work schedule will be created by the IM for any recurring members and/or members moving in early.

Section 2: Food

Bulk orders and store-runs will be completed by the IM as necessary during interim.

Section 3: Inspections

- a. All outgoing members are responsible for removing any personal belongings from their rooms, as well as sweeping and dusting before moving out. Any furniture that has been temporarily removed must be returned and any bed frames that have been disassembled must be reassembled.
- b. The IM is responsible for ensuring that all furniture is accounted for, that window screens are installed, and that all lights/smoke detectors are functioning.

ARTICLE XIV: PARKING

Section 1: Cars

Parking in the 9 driveway spots will be decided by seniority. If there are more than 9 cars, the additional cars will park for free on the other side of Cambridge, or will buy a city parking pass and park on the street directly outside the House.

If a city parking pass is purchased, all other House members who have a car parked in the driveway will split the cost of the city parking pass, paid to the person who bought it.

Cars will be parked in order of smallest (towards dumpster) to largest (towards street). This

ensures that the dump truck will be able to access the dumpster.

Any friends visiting must park on the street. If they park in a driveway spot, they will most likely boot out an Elker, and if they park in front of the porch or any other location on the driveway that isn't a designated parking spot, they will most likely block an Elker (or 5) from exiting the driveway.

Section 2: Bikes

Bike parking is available in the shed or on the bike rack behind the House. A week before work holiday, an email asking members to label their bikes will be sent out. Each work holiday, the bike rack and shed will be checked for abandoned bikes, and the bikes will be disposed of in a manner voted on by the House (e.g. donated, given to other Houses to fix, thrown away, etc.). Bike owners will respect common courtesy with respect to how much shed space their bikes take up.

ARTICLE XV: MURALS

Addition or removal of a House mural in common areas will be passed either by the following:

- A 2/3 majority of the total membership OR;
- By 90% of people present at the meeting, where the minimum attending is ½ the house membership, plus 1.

In the latter situation, 90% of quorum must vote in the affirmative in order for an amendment to pass (abstentions will be counted as no votes).

If a member cannot attend, they may submit an absentee vote to the president. In such a case, the member shall be counted as present for the duration of the vote.

All mural designs or other modifications to the basic paint job must be approved by the House beforehand. All newly painted murals must be taped off properly before painting and any spills cleaned up afterwards. Any damage to the windows, carpet, floor, or other parts of the room may be assessed to the member as a fine up to the cost to have the damage repaired (house labor shall be assessed at \$15 per person-hour).

ARTICLE XVI: BALLPIT

Section 1: Rules

- 1. Thou shalt not have intimate relations of a carnal nature in the ball pit, nor expose thine most intimate parts
- 2. Thou shalt not consume food nor drink in the ball pit
- 3. Thou shall remove thine shoes before entering into the ball pit
- 4. Thou shalt not damage the structural integrity of the ball pit, nor any vital organs contained therein
- 5. Thou shalt not bleed nor spread sickness in the ball pit

- 6. Thou shalt not litter in the ball pit with ash, confetti, glitter, silly string, wet hair dye, et cetera, et cetera
- 7. Thou shalt not defecate nor urinate in the ball pit
- 8. Thou shall be mindful of thine personal belongings in the ball pit
- 9. Thou art encouraged to leave thine mark upon the balls in the ball pit
- 10. Thou shalt not spread bad vibes in the ball pit
- 11. All commandments will be strongly enforced by the Dehumidifier, Supreme Arbiter of the Ball Pit.

Section 2: Cleaning

So as to prevent it from falling back into the sorry state of disgusting disarray that it suffered in years of disuse at Mordor, the Ball Pit should be cleaned at least once a year.

The most effective way to do this is by using couches to blockade off a "temporary ball pit" section of the basement, then forming an assembly line with one bucket of soapy water and one bucket of bleach diluted in water. Balls should be removed from the pit, dunked in the soapy water, then dunked in the bleach water, then dried off, then thrown into the temporary pit until all balls are washed.

At least 3-4 ball pit enthusiasts are required to efficiently perform this task, and all should plan for it to take the better part of a day.

Section 3: Removal

Removal of the ballpit will be passed either by the following:

- A 2/3 majority of the total membership OR;
- By 90% of people present at the meeting, where the minimum attending is $\frac{1}{2}$ the house membership, plus 1.

In the latter situation, 90% of quorum must vote in the affirmative in order for an amendment to pass (abstentions will be counted as no votes).

If a member cannot attend, they may submit an absentee vote to the president. In such a case, the member shall be counted as present for the duration of the vote.

ARTICLE XVII: ART HOUSE

Art House (2010), a movie filmed in the House, can be accessed by the House Google Drive.

The movie will be watched at least once yearly by the House, attempting to recruit as many new members as possible for the viewing.

You may consume a beverage of your choice every time:

- Greta Gerwig is charming.
- A manifesto is mentioned.
- Your current bedroom is shown on screen.
- You see an object still currently residing in the House.
- A scene with a love triangle occurs.

ARTICLE XVIII: CINCO DE NAKED

Cinco de Naked shall occur on the 5th of each month. All members are invited to participate, but it is not required. Members shall not pressure other members to participate. Community agreements around nakedness that are decided on the first House meeting of the term shall be abided by, regardless if it is the 5th of the month. Do not be naked around those who do not consent to seeing your naked form and always ask before removing your clothes in a room with other people. Nakedness in both the kitchen and ball pit is prohibited.